1998

# Utah v. Marvin Newell Green : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The State appeals a final order of dismissal in a prosecution for possession of cocaine in a drug free zone, an enhanced second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) and 58-37-8(5)(vi) (1996); and possession of paraphernalia in a drug free zone, an enhanced class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-37a-5 and 58-37-8(5)(vi) (1996).

These counts were dismissed with prejudice pursuant to the trial court's order suppressing evidence which rendered the State unable to proceed. *See State v. Troyer*, 866 P.2d 528 (Utah 1993). The State's appeal is proper under Utah Code Ann. § 77-18a-1(2)(a) (1995 & Supp. 1998). This Court has jurisdiction of the appeal under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED AND PRESERVED ON APPEAL, AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

**1(a). Did the trial court err as a matter of law in finding that a level one, voluntary police-citizen contact was transformed into a level two seizure by the officer's requests to see defendant's identification and to run a warrants check?**

**(b). If not, did the trial court err as a matter of law in finding that the seizure was unsupported by reasonable suspicion of criminality?**

A "bifurcated" review standard applies to these issues. Underlying fact findings are reviewed deferentially, and reversed only for "clear error." The court's conclusions of law, however, are reviewed for correctness, allowing some "measure of discretion" as regards the application of legal standards to the facts. *See State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-40 (Utah 1994).

These issues were preserved below (R. 15-12), add. A; (R.38: 36-40); (R. 27-24), add. B.

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES**

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. Amend. IV.



## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Defendant was charged with possession of cocaine in a drug free zone, an enhanced second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) and 58-37-8(5)(vi) (1996), possession of paraphernalia in a drug free zone, an enhanced class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-37a-5(a) and 58-37-8(5)(vi) (1996) (R. 2-1).<sup>1</sup> Defendant moved to suppress evidence seized from his person and vehicle pursuant to a warrantless search incident to his arrest on outstanding warrants (R. 15-10) (copies of the motion and supporting memorandum are contained in addendum A). Following an evidentiary hearing (R. 38) (a copy of the transcript of the hearing held 2 April 1998, is attached as addendum B), the trial court granted defendant's motion (R. 27-24) (a copy of the Memorandum Decision is contained in addendum C). Because the State was unable to proceed without the suppressed evidence, the trial court dismissed with prejudice the above charges (R. 32-29). The State filed a timely notice of appeal (R. 34-33).

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **Investigation of Broken Window**

At approximately 10:30 p.m. on 3 January 1998, Officer Robert Edwards of the Springville Police Department investigated a broken window in Springville, Utah (R.

---

<sup>1</sup>The record is numbered in reverse chronological order.

38:9), add. B.<sup>2</sup> Two blocks from the site of the recently shattered window, the officer saw defendant sitting alone in an older model Chevy which was parked in a church parking lot (R. 3: 3), add. B. The Chevy was parked approximately 100 yards from the church building "partway in the drive-through and partway [] into a stall[,] and approximately ten feet from the stall curb (R. 38: 5-7). No other cars were in the lot (R. 38: 5), add. B.

### **Voluntary Encounter**

Officer Edwards pulled to the right side of defendant's Chevy, leaving an approximate 20 to 25 foot distance between the two vehicles (R. 38: 7-8), add. B. In so doing, the officer did not activate his emergency or spot lights (*id.*). As Officer Edwards walked toward the Chevy he saw that the license plates had expired two years earlier (R. 38: 8-9, 19), add. B. He also noticed that defendant was "moving around a lot[:] He wasn't like sitting in one place. He would lean to one side or to the other. You could see his arms were moving" (*id.*).

Officer Edwards tapped on defendant's window which defendant slowly rolled down and the officer asked if he was okay (R. 38:9-10), add. B. Defendant did not respond for 45 to 60 seconds and then asked the officer if he was doing anything wrong (*id.*). Officer Edwards assured defendant that he was not, and that he was just checking to

---

<sup>2</sup>A hearing on defendant's motion to suppress was held on 2 April 1998. The cover page of the suppression hearing transcript is numbered "38." The subsequent pages retain their original numbering. Therefore, pages of that transcript will be numbered in this brief as "R. 38: [internal page number]."

see if defendant was okay (*id.*). The officer also asked defendant if he had seen anyone come through the parking lot in the last few minutes (*id.*). Defendant delayed in answering and then replied that he was just listening to his radio (*id.*).<sup>3</sup>

**Defendant Consents to Officer's Requests for Identification  
and for Permission to Run a Warrants Check**

The officer also asked defendant if he had any identification (R. 38: 12), add. B. Defendant hesitated before answering "Yes," and then slowly reached for his wallet (*id.*). The officer observed that defendant had trouble retrieving his driver's license from the wallet and that once it was retrieved defendant had trouble "keeping hold of it" (*id.*). When defendant handed the license to Officer Edwards, the officer had to reach down into the car to take the license from him (*id.*). Officer Edwards asked defendant if he "minded" if the officer took defendant's license back to the patrol car "to check on a few things" (R. 38: 13), add. B. Defendant said, "Okay" (*id.*). A warrants and license check revealed two outstanding warrants for defendant, that the Chevy was registered to someone else, and also confirmed that the Chevy's registration had expired in 1995 (R. 38: 14, 20), add. B. Up until Officer Edwards discovered the outstanding warrants, defendant was free to walk away from the encounter and he was never told otherwise;

---

<sup>3</sup>The record indicates that following defendant's non-responsive answer Officer Edwards repeated his question, but defendant's answer, if any, is not provided (*id.*).

however, if defendant had attempted to drive the Chevy away, Officer Edwards would have stopped him for the expired registration violation (R. 38: 29), add. B.

### **Search Incident-to-Arrest on Outstanding Warrants**

Defendant was arrested on the outstanding warrants and a search of his person and the Chevy incident to the arrest revealed controlled substances and paraphernalia (*id.*).

### **Reasonable Suspicion of Expired Registration and DUI**

Defendant's behavior throughout the voluntary encounter caused Officer Edwards to be concerned that he was impaired (*id.*). The officer did not consider defendant's responses to be "normal," because they were slow, non-responsive, and because defendant also failed to make eye contact (R. 38: 11, 28), add. B. Defendant looked in the car and at his feet, even when the officer asked him for his identification (R. 38: 12), add. B. Ultimately, Officer Edwards did not call for a drug recognition expert (DRE) because he arrested defendant on the outstanding warrants, and because another officer later arriving at the scene informed him that defendant lived in a community center for mentally disabled people, to which fact Officer Edwards then attributed defendant's abnormal behavior (R. 38: 30-32), add. B.

### **Motion to Suppress**

Defendant moved to suppress the evidence seized on two grounds. First, defendant claimed that he was unreasonably seized by the facts that the officer's patrol car allegedly "block[ed]" him in the church parking lot, the patrol car's headlights shined

on the Chevy, Officer Edwards was armed and in uniform, and finally, because the officer "interrogated" him (R. 13), add. A. Alternatively, defendant argued that even if the manner in which Officer Edwards approached him did not constitute a seizure, he was seized as a matter of law "the moment that Officer Edwards seized [his] identification and returned to his patrol vehicle to run a warrants check" (*id.*).

### **Ruling**

The trial court rejected defendant's first argument, disagreeing that defendant was seized at any time during the officer's initial approach and questioning (R. 26), add. C. Specifically, the trial court found that Officer Edwards's initial approach and inquiries clearly constituted a voluntary or level one encounter, that "defendant responded to the officer's questions voluntarily," and that there was "no indication that [d]efendant wasn't (sic) free to leave" (*id.*).<sup>4</sup>

However, the trial court accepted defendant's alternative argument, agreeing that defendant was seized as a matter of law when Officer Edwards "took possession" of defendant's license "and returned to his patrol car to run a warrants check" (R. 25), add. C. Even though defendant's behavior "raised some suspicion that defendant was under the influence of drugs or alcohol," the trial court found that the seizure was unsupported by reasonable suspicion because Officer Edwards "failed to administer a sobriety test or

---

<sup>4</sup>*See State v. Deitman*, 739 P.2d 616 (Utah 1987).

take any other action to determine whether the abnormal responses were the result of drugs or alcohol use, or something else" (*id.*).

## **INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The State does not dispute the trial court's findings and conclusions that the initial contact between Officer Edwards and defendant constituted a level one or a voluntary encounter which requires no Fourth Amendment justification.

Rather, at issue here is the trial court's conclusion that the voluntary and consensual encounter was somehow transformed into a level two detention or seizure when Officer Edwards's obtained defendant's identification and ran a warrants check. The trial court's conclusion is incorrect as a matter of law. In reaching this conclusion the trial court wholly failed to review the totality of the circumstances including the uncontradicted evidence of an on-going consensual encounter. As a consequence, the trial court's ruling is inconsistent with its sketchy findings, the undisputed testimony of Officer Edwards, and controlling authority from the United States Supreme Court, the Utah Supreme Court and this Court.

Even if Officer Edwards's requests for identification and for permission to run a warrants check transformed the consensual encounter into a seizure, the State further challenges the trial court's ruling that the seizure was unsupported by reasonable suspicion. At the time the officer obtained defendant's identification and ran the warrants

check he reasonably suspected defendant had been driving a vehicle with expired registration and might also be physically impaired.

Assuming the State prevails on either of the above grounds, defendant did not dispute below that the evidence against him was otherwise properly seized during a search incident to his arrest on the outstanding warrants. The Court should therefore reverse the trial court's order suppressing evidence and remand this case for trial.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT DEFENDANT WAS SEIZED FOR FOURTH AMENDMENT PURPOSES WHEN OFFICER EDWARDS REQUESTED HIS IDENTIFICATION AND PERMISSION TO RUN A WARRANTS CHECK**

#### **A. Consensual Encounter**

The critical issue in this case is whether the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding defendant was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes when Officer Edwards obtained his identification and ran a warrants check (*see* R. 25), add. C. The trial court's erroneous conclusion is partially driven by its incomplete factual findings regarding the voluntariness of the police-citizen contact. While the trial court's factual findings are correct as far as they go, they overlook defendant's continuing consent to the officer's requests for identification and for permission to run the warrants check. The trial court's erroneous conclusion of seizure is further driven by its failure to consider the totality of the circumstances regarding the encounter, including the complete absence of any show

of authority or use of physical force on the part of Officer Edwards. As a consequence the trial court's determination of a seizure is inconsistent with, and unsupported by its sketchy factual findings, the uncontradicted evidence below, and controlling case authority. It therefore "exceeds established legal boundaries" and merits no measure of discretion. See *State v. Strausberg*, 895 P.2d 831, 835 n. 5 (Utah App. 1995); *State v. Teuscher*, 883 P.2d 922, 929 (Utah App. 1994) (both evaluating custody determinations and observing that such "fact sensitive" determinations by a trial court are accorded a "measure of discretion," unless the determination "exceeds established legal boundaries").

### **1. Seizure Standard**

"Not every encounter between a police officer and a citizen is a seizure" requiring justification under the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Higgins*, 884 P.2d 1242, 1244 (Utah 1994) (citing *Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 437 (1991)). Indeed, Utah's appellate courts recognize three different levels of police-citizen contacts. *State v. Deitman*, 739 P.2d 616, 617 (Utah 1987); *State v. Bean*, 869 P.2d 984, 986 (Utah App. 1994). The first level is a voluntary encounter which requires no Fourth Amendment justification. *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 437. A voluntary encounter occurs when an officer approaches and questions a suspect. *Deitman*, 739 P.2d at 617; *Bean*, 869 P.2d at 986. This questioning may even be incriminating and may also include a request for identification and for consent to search. *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 435, 439. An officer may stop and so question an individual at any time so long as a "reasonable person would feel free 'to disregard the



police and go about his business.'" *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 434 (quoting *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 628 (1991)). Such a voluntary "encounter will not trigger Fourth Amendment scrutiny unless it loses its consensual nature." *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 434.

The second level of police-citizen encounter is a temporary seizure which does require Fourth Amendment justification. *Deitman*, 739 P.2d at 617; *Bean*, 869 P.2d at 986. In order to legally effect a temporary seizure, the officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the suspect has committed or is about to commit a crime, and the detention must be limited in scope. *Id.*<sup>5</sup> "A person is seized under the Fourth Amendment when, considering the totality of the circumstances, the police conduct would have communicated to a reasonable person that the person was not free to decline the officer's requests or otherwise terminate the encounter and go about his or her business." *Higgins*, 884 P.2d at 1244. *Accord Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 436. Relevant factors include an officer's use of physical force or show of authority for purposes of restraining in some way the liberty of the individual. *State v. Bean*, 869 P.2d 984, 986 (Utah App. 1994).

An objective assessment of this case shows that the trial court misapplied and/or ignored the above criteria in entering its factual findings and in concluding that defendant was seized any time prior to his arrest on the outstanding warrants.

---

<sup>5</sup>The third level of police citizen encounter, arrest, must be supported by probable cause, *see Deitman*, 739 P.2d at 617-618, but is not at issue here.

## **2. Incomplete Factual Findings Drive Erroneous Determination of Seizure**

Here, the trial court found that "Officer Edwards asked [d]efendant for identification, and [d]efendant produced a driver's license" (R. 27), add. C. The trial court also found that the officer asked defendant for "permission to return to his patrol car to run a warrant check" (R. 25), add. C. As far as they go, these findings are correct, but they are also incomplete.

As set out in greater detail in the Statement of the Facts, defendant responded affirmatively to both the officer's requests for identification *and* for permission to "check on a few things" (*see* R. 38: 12-13), add. B. Additionally, Officer Edwards employed no physical force or other show of authority that would have conveyed the message to defendant that his compliance was required (*id.*). Indeed, to the extent defendant claimed otherwise with reference to the officer's initial approach and inquiries, the trial court rejected his argument (R. 26-25), add. C. In failing thereafter to acknowledge the officer's non-reliance on physical force or authority, and defendant's consensual behavior, the trial court's findings misrepresent the totality of Officer Edwards's uncontradicted testimony (*id.*). The trial court clearly accepted the officer's testimony, having entered no contrary finding (R. 27-24), add. C.

### 3. Seizure Determination Contrary to Controlling Authority

Not only is the trial court's seizure determination inconsistent with the undisputed facts of the continuing consensual nature of the encounter, it is unsupported by controlling authority. As emphasized in *Bostick*, a voluntary encounter does not "trigger" Fourth Amendment protections unless or until it loses its consensual nature. 501 U.S. at 434. As demonstrated above, the instant encounter never lost its consensual nature. In ruling otherwise, the trial court mistakenly relied upon *State v. Johnson*, 805 P.2d 761 (Utah 1991) and *State v. Godina-Luna*, 826 P.2d 652 (Utah App. 1992).

Both *Johnson* and *Godina-Luna* are immediately distinguishable from the instant facts on the ground that they involve traffic-stop scenarios. Therefore the police-citizen encounters in these cases began as level two detentions requiring Fourth Amendment justification from their inception. *Johnson*, 805 P.2d at 762; *Godina-Luna*, 826 P.2d at 653. Police in *Johnson* and *Godina-Luna* were thus required to justify with reasonable suspicion of criminality, any detention of the vehicles' occupants outside the initial traffic purposes for the stops. *Id.*

In *Johnson*, the supreme court found that Johnson, a passenger in the stopped vehicle, was unreasonably detained when the officer asked for her name and date of birth for purposes of running a warrants check because the officer lacked reasonable suspicion that the vehicle was stolen. 805 P.2d at 764.

In *Godina-Luna*, this court held that the defendants were unlawfully seized when, after satisfying himself that defendants were not intoxicated, the officer did not return the car registration and other papers, but continued to investigate criminal activity of which he had no reasonable suspicion. 826 P.2d at 655.<sup>6</sup> Notably, it was not the officer's running of a warrants check that *Godina-Luna* found objectionable, but rather the officer's posing of the question whether the defendants' had "any alcohol, firearms, or drugs in the vehicle[.]" 826 P.2d at 654.

Here, in contrast to *Johnson*, *Godina-Luna*, and every other traffic-stop case, the police-citizen encounter began as a voluntary encounter and continued as such until defendant was arrested on the outstanding warrants. Accordingly, Officer Edwards was not required to justify either his request for identification, *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 435, or his request for permission to run a warrants check. See *People v. Bouser*, 32 Cal.Rptr.2d 163, 166 (Cal. App. 1994), *cert. denied*, 514 U.S. 1039 (1995) (commencing a warrants

---

<sup>6</sup>Since *Johnson* and *Godina-Luna*, the Utah Supreme Court has clarified that in a traffic stop scenario, "running a warrants check during the course of a routine traffic stop does not violate the Fourth Amendment, so long as it does not significantly extend the period of detention beyond that reasonably necessary to request a driver's license and valid registration and to issue a citation." *State v. Lopez*, 873 P.2d 1127, 1133 (Utah 1994). See also *State v. Smoot*, 921 P.2d 1003, 1007 (Utah App.) (where police-citizen encounter was initially consensual, but was also supported by reasonable suspicion, it was unnecessary to determine when defendant was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes; rather, only question was whether detention for purposes of running a warrants check significantly extended the detention beyond that reasonably necessary to effectuate the purpose of the initial stop), *cert. denied*, 925 P.2d 963 (Utah 1996).

check on a suspect does not automatically convert a consensual encounter into a Fourth Amendment seizure); *State v. Soukharith*, 570 N.W.2d 344, 353 (Neb. 1997) (reasonable suspicion not required to run a warrants check where suspect was not seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment). *See also State v. Jackson*, 805 P.2d 765, 768 (Utah App. 1990) (recognizing that as a matter of law a request for identification cannot constitute a show of authority sufficient to convert an innocent encounter into a seizure), *cert. denied*, 815 P.2d 241 (Utah 1991). Defendant was free to decline either request and nothing in the officer's conduct suggested otherwise. *See Statement of the Facts, supra*.

In contrast to *Johnson*, *Godina-Luna* and other cases where the police-citizen encounter began as a level two detention, this case is more closely analogous to the consensual police-citizen contact upheld by the supreme court in *State v. Deitman*, 739 P.2d 616 (Utah 1987). The supreme court rejected the *Deitman* defendants' claims that they were seized without probable cause when an officer asked if he could speak to them, and also requested their identification upon which he ran a warrants check and uncovered outstanding warrants. 739 P.2d at 617-18. Instead, the supreme court found the police-citizen contact constituted a level one or voluntary encounter which required no Fourth Amendment justification. *Id.* In so ruling, the *Deitman* court found the officer's non-forceful conduct and the defendants' willing compliance significant: "Here, defendants were not stopped by the officer and raised no objection when the officer asked if he could talk to them. They crossed the street, produced identification on request, and were not

detained against their will." *Id.* at 618. In this case, defendant also willingly complied with Officer Edward's non-forceful requests for his identification and for permission to run a warrants check. *See* Statement of the Facts, *supra*.

Based on the above, the trial court erred as a matter of law when it concluded that on these facts, the running of a warrants check transformed an otherwise consensual encounter into a level two detention requiring reasonable suspicion of criminality.

**B. Any Detention Supported by Reasonable Suspicion**

Even assuming the Court were to deem the running of a warrants check on the instant facts to constitute a level two detention requiring Fourth Amendment justification, the trial court erroneously concluded that such justification was absent here.

There is reasonable suspicion to justify a detention if, from the facts and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, police would reasonably suspect that criminal activity is afoot. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968). Accordingly, the reasonable suspicion standard is "less demanding" than probable cause, requiring only "'some minimal level of objective justification'" for the detention. *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (citations and quotations omitted). *Accord State v. Menke*, 787 P.2d 537, 541 (Utah App. 1990) (reasonable suspicion "must be based on objective facts suggesting that the individual may be involved in criminal activity"). In evaluating this minimal objective justification, a court must consider "the totality of the circumstances – the

whole picture." *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981). As the Supreme Court notes:

The process does not deal with hard certainties, but with probabilities. Long before the law of probabilities was articulated as such, practical people formulated certain common sense conclusions about human behavior; jurors as factfinders are permitted to do the same – and so are law enforcement officers.

*Id.* at 418.

Here, the record establishes that at the time Officer Edwards requested defendant's identification and permission to run the warrants check, he reasonably suspected defendant had committed or was about to commit a class C misdemeanor offense, driving a vehicle with expired registration (R. 38: 8,18-19), add. B. *See, e.g.*, Utah Code Ann. § 41-1a-1303 (Supp. 1998) (prohibiting the driving upon any highway of the state of any vehicle required to be registered in this state that is not registered or for which the required fee has not been paid). The officer's testimony that he observed the substantially expired registration upon approaching defendant's Chevy in the church parking lot is uncontested. *See* Statement of the Facts, *supra*. Yet, the trial court failed to consider the evidence in evaluating the reasonableness of the officer's conduct. The trial court's findings are therefore incomplete, and contribute to its erroneous determination that the purported seizure was made without reasonable suspicion.

Additionally, Officer Edwards reasonably suspected defendant was physically impaired. Indeed, the trial court found that defendant's responses were "abnormal," "non-

responsive and delayed," and that this behavior "raised some suspicion that the defendant was under the influence of drugs or alcohol" (R. 27, 25), add. C. The trial court declined to find, however, that these facts constituted reasonable suspicion because in its view Officer Edwards "did nothing further to confirm or deny his suspicion. He failed to administer a sobriety test" (R. 25), add. C. The trial court's findings are again incomplete for their failure to recognize the officer's uncontradicted testimony that he declined to further pursue his suspicion of DUI only after learning that defendant was mentally disabled, and after determining to arrest defendant on the outstanding warrants (R. 38: 31-32), add. B. Defendant's "abnormal" behavior may not have amounted to probable cause to arrest for DUI, but it certainly warranted the minimal detention found to have occurred here. The trial court's contrary conclusion is erroneous and should be overturned.

\* \* \*

For the reasons detailed above, on these facts, the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that defendant was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes when the officer obtained his identification and ran a warrants check. Even if a seizure is deemed to have occurred, the trial court further erred in concluding that the seizure was unsupported by reasonable suspicion of a registration violation and/or possible DUI. The trial court's erroneous conclusions are driven by its incomplete factual findings overlooking the officer's uncontradicted testimony as to the voluntary and consensual nature of the police-citizen contact, and his reasons for not further investigating his




suspicion defendant was physically impaired. The trial court's erroneous conclusions also result from its misapprehension of controlling authority. As a result, the trial court's determinations of seizure, and of no reasonable suspicion, exceed legal boundaries and merit no measure of discretion. The ruling below should be overturned.

### CONCLUSION

The Court should reverse the trial court's suppression of defendant's statements and remand this case for trial.