1998

State of Utah v. Marvin Newell Green : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly determined that Officer Edward's initial contact with Green had risen to a level two seizure at the time the officer requested from Green identification and permission to return with it to his patrol car. The Utah Supreme Court held that a defendant was seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, when an officer "took [the defendant's] name and birth date and expected her to wait while he ran a warrants check." State v. Johnson,

805 P.2d 761, 762-763 (Utah 1991) (quoting State v. Johnson, 771 P.2d 326, 328 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). In addition, the State argued at the close of the suppression hearing that the initial encounter “immediately went to a level two [stop] as [the officer] discussed and conversed with [Green]” (R. 38:36). Having already conceded that a level two seizure occurred, the State should not now be allowed to argue to the contrary. If the trial court’s decision that a level two seizure occurred is erroneous, as the State contends, that error was clearly invited by the State.

The trial court correctly determined that the level two seizure was unsupported by reasonable suspicion. The trial court held that the officer’s concern that Green was under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs fell short of reasonable suspicion; namely, because he failed to confirm or deny whether Green’s behavior was the result of drug or alcohol use, or something else (R. 25). It should be noted that subsequent to Green’s arrest, the officer discovered that Green’s slow responses during the initial encounter were likely the result of a mental impairment.³ In addition, Appellant’s repeated claims that Officer Edward’s reasonably suspected criminal activity directly contradicts the officer’s testimony at the suppression hearing. Officer Edwards testified that although he was concerned about Green’s behavior during the initial encounter, until he discovered the outstanding warrants he “didn’t necessarily have a reason to hold him.” (R. 39:29).

Furthermore, Officer Edwards agreed that the expired license plates on Green’s vehicle did not constitute criminal activity because Green was parked on private property (R. 38:27).

³Upon learning that Green resided at a community care living center for mentally disabled people, the officer testified at the suppression hearing that he “thought that his slow responses may be contributed to any type of disability that he may have” (R. 38:31).

The officer obviously knew that he could not cite Defendant for expired plates until he pulled onto public roads.

ARGUMENT

I. GREEN WAS SEIZED WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT AT THE TIME THE OFFICER REQUESTED GREEN'S IDENTIFICATION AND RETURNED WITH IT TO HIS PATROL CAR.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution reads as follows:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Article I, §14 of the Utah Constitution contains nearly the same language as the federal constitution. Green was stopped and searched illegally under both the United States Constitution and the Utah Constitution.

The search and seizure limitations of the fourth amendment and article I, § 14 of the Utah Constitution are applicable to investigatory stops or seizures that are not official arrests. State v. Trujillo 739 P.2d 85, 87 (Utah App. 1987). When a person remains not in the spirit of cooperation with an officer, but because he believes that he is not free to leave, a seizure has occurred. Id.

The Utah Supreme Court has defined three levels of police encounters together with the standard for justifying such a detention:

- (1) an officer may approach a citizen at anytime [*sic*] and pose questions so long as the citizen is not detained against his will;
- (2) an officer may seize a person if the officer has an "articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is about to commit a crime; however, the "detention

must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop";

(3) an officer may arrest a suspect if the officer has probable cause to believe an offense has been committed or is being committed.

State v. Deitman, 739 P.2d 616, 617-18 (Utah 1987). In the present case, The trial court determined that the officers initial contact and questioning of Green constituted a level-one encounter, notwithstanding Green's argument that the officer blocked Green's vehicle, shined his lights into his vehicle, and created circumstances equivalent to a defacto stop.⁴ The officer testified that he first made contact with Green to determine whether he was okay, and whether he had recently seen anyone pass through the parking lot. (R. 38:9). The trial court determined, however, that once the officer asked Green for his driver's license and permission to return with it to his patrol car, the encounter rose to a "level two" stop (R. 25).

The trial court correctly cited authority to support its finding of a level two seizure. The Utah Supreme Court, in State v. Johnson, 805 P.2d 761, 762-763 (Utah 1991), held that the defendant was "seized" when the officer "took [the defendant's] name and birth date and expected her to wait while he ran a warrants check." The trial court also cited State v. Godina-Luna, 826 P.2d 652, 655 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). In that case, Utah's court of appeals held that the defendants "were not free to leave because the deputy continued to hold their papers after he had satisfied himself that they were not intoxicated." In this case, before the officer reasonably suspected any criminal activity, he asked Green to surrender his driver's license and wait while

⁴The trial court held: "The initial inquiry, clearly a level one stop, did not constitute a Fourth Amendment seizure and was therefore lawful" (R. 26).

he returned to his vehicle to “check on a few things” (R. 38:13). The trial court held at that point of the encounter, Green reasonably believed that he was not free to leave (R. 25).

In addition, the State conceded that the stop rose to a level two encounter even before the officer asked Green for identification. The State argued at the close of the suppression hearing that the stop “immediately went to a level two as [the officer] discussed and conversed with [Green]. And then because of that, [the officer] obtained the driver’s license, some identification, went back to his patrol car, went back to his car [sic], and found there were warrants on him” (R. 38:36).

Appellant now argues on appeal that the trial court erroneously determined that Green was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes at the time Officer Edwards requested Green’s identification and permission to return with it to his patrol car. This argument clearly contradicts the concession the State made at the suppression hearing that a level two seizure did in fact occur. If the trial court erred in its conclusion that Green was unjustifiably detained, that error was clearly invited by the State and Appellant is prohibited from complaining of it on appeal. The “invited error” doctrine prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal.” State v. Lyman, 953 P.2d 782, 785 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (*quoting State v. Perdue*, 813 P.2d 1201, 1205 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); *see also State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1220 (Utah 1990) (holding a party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party lead the trial court into committing the error)).

Appellant also argues on appeal that Green consented to the continued detention because he responded “okay” to the officer’s request for permission to take Green’s identification back to his patrol car “to check on a few things” @ 38:13). Whether Green consented to the continued

detention is irrelevant considering the fact that the State admitted that a level two seizure had begun before the officer even asked for Green's identification (R. 38:36).

II. GREEN'S LEVEL TWO SEIZURE WAS UNSUPPORTED BY REASONABLE SUSPICION OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY.

A level two stop "is justified under the fourth amendment only if the detaining officer has a reasonable suspicion of serious criminal activity." State v. Robinson, 797 P.2d 431, 435 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). The State's argument that Green's detention beyond the officer's initial inquiries was justified is erroneous and unsupported by the evidence presented at the suppression hearing.

The trial court found that Green's delayed responses were not enough to raise the officer's concern that Green was under the influence of drugs or alcohol to a reasonable suspicion of criminality. The trial court determined that, because the officer failed to confirm or deny whether Green's behavior was the result of drugs or alcohol use, or something else, any suspicion that Green was involved in criminal activity was unreasonable (R. 25-24). It should be noted that subsequent to Green's arrest, the officer discovered that Green's slower than normal responses during the initial encounter were likely the result of a mental impairment.⁵ However, as the record reflects, Green did respond rationally to all of the officer's questions.⁶

In addition, at the suppression hearing, during cross-examination, defense counsel asked the officer whether Green was free to leave at anytime before the officer discovered Green's

⁵Upon learning that Green resided at a community care living center for mentally disabled people, the officer testified at the suppression hearing that he "thought that his slow responses may be contributed to any type of disability that he may have" (R. 38:31).

⁶Even though officer Edwards testified at the suppression hearing that Green's response to his questions were delayed, they were certainly rational. To Officer Edwards question whether Green was okay, Green responded by asking the officer if he was doing something wrong. To the officer's next question, whether Green had seen anyone recently pass through the parking lot, Green responded, "I was just listening to my radio" (R. 38:10-11).